
 Livingston City Commission Minutes 

February 18, 2025 — 5:30 PM 

City – County Complex, Community Room  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89792692672?pwd=p0BpyO8FVKdFQGGxDqc6clRI15GabZ.1 

 

Meeting ID: 897 9269 2672 

Passcode: 821323 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

Chair Schwarz called the meeting to order at 5:34pm 

2. Roll Call 

Commissioners Present 

 Chair Schwarz 

 Vice-Chair Nootz 

 Commissioner Kahle 

 Commissioner Lyons 

 Commissioner Willich 

City Staff Present 

 City Manager Grant Gager 

 Policy Analyst Greg Anthony 

 City Attorney Jon Hesse 

 Chief of Police Wayne Hard 

 Planning Director Jennifer Severson 

3. Public Comment 
Individuals are reminded that public comments should be limited to item over which the City Commission has 

supervision, control jurisdiction, or advisory power (MCA 2-3-202) 
 

Chair Schwarz invited public comments on non-agenda or consent items and reminded speakers of the time 

limit and relevant rules 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89792692672?pwd=p0BpyO8FVKdFQGGxDqc6clRI15GabZ.1


 

 

 

 

4. Consent Items 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM FEBRUARY 04, 2025, REGULAR MEETING PG.4 

B. APPROVAL OF CLAIMS PAID 1/30/25 - 2/12/25 PG.13 

C. PLEDGED SECURITIES PG.24 

D. HPC BOARD APPOINTMENT/RENEWAL PG.28 

E. APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT 20156 PG.31 

Chair Schwarz opened Consent Items to public comment. 

Public Comment was offered by: 

 Jessie Kula expressed disagreement with agreement 20156 regarding dollar amounts 

 Josh Congelton also expressed disagreement with agreement 20156 regarding dollar amounts 

 Pam Van Giessen expressed concern about agreement 20156 regarding indefinitely term and what 

would happens after employment ends. 

 Ellen Collins expressed agreement with previous commenters.  

 Nancy Adkins stated streets being plowed would be something good to spend money on. 

Commissioner Willich pulled Consent Item E for discussion. He expressed appreciation to the public that 

reached out to him. He brought up dollar amount statistics for the Livingston area and wanted the scale of 

dollars to be put into perspective.  He expressed support to the City Manager and dollar amount listed in this 

agreement.  

Commissioner Lyons expressed understand of local economy and appreciates public feedback, but ultimately 

support the City Manager and what he brings to the City of Livingston and feels the dollar amount listed in 

the agreement is appropriate.  

Commissioner Kahle stated there was a compensation analysis done of communities in our region to help 

guide their decision on a raise. She reminded that the City Manager has worked really hard to raise salaries 

and wages for City employees. She feels that the City Manager works really hard inside and outside is office 

working with City employees and community members.  

Vice Chair Nootz expressed disappointment with a lot of misinformation that is going around online without 

fact checking. She reminded that Commissioners make evidence based decisions and do so publicly. She feels 

like with all of the negative comments that it is being forgotten that the City Manager is still and person, and 



 

 

a person that lives within our community. She asked the City Manager to clarify that city employees have all 

received a raise before the Commission had discussed a raise for him 

The City Manager stated that there have been at least two raises for City employees. 

Vice Chair Nootz read her list of things the current City Manager has done during his time employed as City 

Manager in the City of Livingston. The list includes: lowered City taxes, healthy budget, transparent budget, 

growth policy implementation, improvement in City culture and City employee morale, save the City $16 

million to $20 million dollars for taxpayers in lawsuits without getting the City into any new lawsuits, 

developers and private interests are paying their own way now, good feedback from the community about 

the current City Manager, built relationships with other City Managers across the state, improved processes 

to bring transparency to government, has helped people and neighborhoods in crisis, brings equity to all 

Commissioners with shared information and information in a timely manner, and lastly, he has full experience 

in local government ranging over all departments. 

Chair Schwarz reminded that the numbers were not pulled out of nothing, they did hire a consulting agency 

to help with this. He is very happy to have hired the current City Manager, and his only regret is not paying 

him more to begin with. He expressed that the City Manager has done really well at a job that is very difficult, 

and for that he should be fairly compensated. He stated that he is disappointed in the comments he has seen 

on social media, and reminded that they things they are saying is about a person and he does have a family. 

Commissioner Kahle motioned to approve consent items seconded by Commissioner Willich. Unanimously 

approved. 

5. Proclamations  

6. Scheduled Public Comment 

6:20 PM Commissioner Kahle motioned to take a 10 minute break seconded by Vice Chair Nootz. 

Unanimously approved.  

7. Action Items 

A. PRESENTATION OF ENERGY ACTION PLAN PG.46 

This City Manager stated this item is a presentation of a draft energy action plan. He stated this plan started 

over a year ago when the City Commission appropriated funds in the FY 24 budget and comes as an item 

from the Growth Policy. He introduced Nicole Holt from Sera Architects. 

Nicole gave a presentation to the City Commission about the Energy Action Plan. 

Commissioner Lyons asked this plan would be an appendix added to the Growth Policy. 

The City Manager stated that it could be. He reminded that we do have a Growth Policy update coming in 

2026 and stated if the Commission would like, they could add this to the Growth Policy.  



 

 

Public Comment was offered by: 

 Linda Mahr asked what happens in 2030 does this plan stop. She expressed that everything is still 

going to be growing and what will happen then.  

 Patricia Grabow expressed disappointment in the Energy Action Plan presentation 

 Sarah Stands is excited to the results of this Energy Action Plan 

Chair Schwarz asked what the role the consultant after this. 

The City Manager stated this report concludes the current consulting team’s engagement.  

Vice Chair Nootz expressed that cross referencing seems like a good idea and important to do. She stated she 

has heard from multiple people in the community that they would like to see an idling ordinance. She would 

like to see the Wellness Center brought up in this plan. She also asked about green waste burning. She as 

Nicole if it had been considered that green waste is burned because it does seem problematic. 

Nicole stated the fact that it is currently burned was not taken into consideration in the plan, but in a future 

phases where they look at waster with greater detail. 

The City Manager agreed that this is something that will be looked at in greater detail. 

Commissioner Willich asked about greenhouse gas emissions. He asked what is our energy production make 

up. How much coal does Northwestern Energy burn vs. natural gas, hydro, wind and solar. 

The City Manager stated that Northwestern Energy is primarily coal generating. 

Commissioner Lyons stated the energy is predominantly renewable and coal constitutes less in terms of what 

we are getting from Northwestern Energy. 

Commissioner Willich asked about LED performance in cold weather and wondered about type of light output 

and wondered will it be in line with our light ordinance. 

Nicole stated this document is not the place to discuss the function of LEDs in different temperatures.  

Commissioner Lyons as if they are focusing on operations of the City or are they thinking about what the City 

can do as it relates to energy consumption among citizens. 

The City Manager stated the goal of this plan was to provide the City, as a large fleet and infrastructure owner 

and operator, some actionable methods that we can pursue to lower our energy intensity. 

Commissioner Lyons expressed that he likes the effort for this plan and feels passion toward this subject. He 

would like to see the plan fit more with Livingston, though. He would like to see a pilot program for low and 

no emission vehicles. He explained that VF 2.1 doesn’t make a lot of sense and felt it should be removed. He 

would also like to include public access to the zero emission infrastructure.  



 

 

Commissioner Kahle is excited to see this move forward. She asked what phase two will look like. 

The City Manager stated the next phase is a collaborative effort between staff and the team from Sera, but 

there will be some technical components of the next phase as far as energy audits. 

Chair Schwarz thanked Nicole for the presentation.  

Commissioner Willich asked about the baseline year being 2020 as it was a very out of character year for us 

at that time.  

The City Manager stated it was produced in 2020, but data goes back to 2018. 

Vice Chair Nootz motioned to receive and file the energy action with the following amendments and direct 

the City Manager to purse its implementation seconded by Commissioner Lyons. Unanimously approved.  

 Address LED Lights 

 Add strategy for low emission or no emission vehicles and pilot program for staff 

 Omit on page 66 VF 2.1 

 Include public access to zero emission infrastructure 

8:10 PM Vice Chair Nootz motioned to take a 10 minute break seconded by Commissioner Kahle. Unanimously 

approved 

 

 

B. APPROVAL OF A CITY-COUNTY COMPACT CHAPTER (IT/GIS) PG.104 

This City Manager stated this item is a proposed third chapter in the City-County Compact and this agreement 

is a current practice between City and County for IT and GIS services. 

Commissioner Kahle thanked the City Manager for this chapter and moving the City-County Compact 

agreement forward. 

Vice Chair Nootz motioned to approve this item seconded by Commissioner Kahle. Unanimously approved. 

 

C. SUBDIVISION REGULATION REVIEW #3 PG.110 

This City Manager stated this item is the third phase of the review of the City of Livingston Subdivision 

Regulations. This phase of proposed changes focuses on community experience. He introduced Planning 

Director Severson to present on this item. 



 

 

Planning Director Severson presented Subdivision Regulation slides. 

Commissioner Lyons asked about page 135 where it talks about soils in a subdivision. He wondered if there 

was a bill in the last legislative session that excluded this in primary criteria.  

Planning Director Severson stated she will look into this.  

Commissioner Kahle asked where the Public Works standards are, and if they would be reviewed in 

subdivision application process. 

Planning Director Severson stated there are two and can be found on our website 

www.livingstonmontana.org and she stated yes, they will be looked at during the process. 

Vice Chair Nootz expressed concern about when HOA requirements are in conflict with City ordinances, and 

would really like to see something to correct that in this policy. She doesn’t want developers and HOA’s to 

have a backdoor route to undermine public policy.  

Planning Director Severson expressed she would like some time to look into this, and explained that in certain 

cases it would be a civil matter. 

The City Manager stated they will evaluate allowances with MCA to help with this type of situation. 

Commission Lyons expressed that he likes having a traffic study done at a certain threshold in this policy and 

feels like it is a great idea.  

Commissioner Kahle thanked Planning Director Severson for adding the section about bear proof cans. 

Vice Chair Nootz asked what it would look like if a developer wants to appeal something. It used to be that 

folks would go to the board of appeals, and with this process moving to administrative what does that look 

like. 

Planning Director Severson stated it would still come to the Commission. 

Commissioner Kahle asked for clarification on if the developer can appeal and that would also mean that any 

other private entity could also appeal.  

The City Manager stated yes, that is correct. He reminded of noticing provisions that are included for major 

and minor subdivisions.  

8. City Manager Comment 

The City Manager expressed appreciation to the Commission for their work on the Energy Action Plan and 

Subdivision Regulations. He also thanked them for their continued confidence in him to do his job as City 

Manager.  

9. City Commission Comments 

http://www.livingstonmontana.org/


 

 

Commissioner Willich thanked the members of the public for reach out about items on the agenda. He 

expressed appreciation for the work the City Manager does. 

Commissioner Lyons shared some snow data that he keeps from his back yard and the snowiest days on 

record. Third place is October 2020 at 24 inches, second place is March 2023 at 27.5 inches, and first is 

February 2025 with 34.5 inches only 18 days into the month.  

Commissioner Kahle expressed concern around federal layoffs and feels as a gateway community to 

Yellowstone Park we are affected by this, and would like to find a way to support those folks. She motioned 

for it to be on the next agenda to write a letter to the Federal Government asking them to be more cautious 

about firing people, and look how it will affect our community.  

Chair Schwarz seconded and supported bringing this to the next agenda.  

Vice Chair Nootz addressed the negative talk around the City Managers agreement and would like these 

folks speaking negatively to remember that the City Manager is a person within the community with a family 

in the community. She ask that they support our community and support those who give their life for public 

service and give their careers to public service. She asked poster on social media to think about their actions 

and to make sure they are posting accurate content because it does impact people’s lives.  

Chair Schwarz expressed understanding of the community and what they go through, but shared support 

for the City Manager and reminded of all the good qualities he brings to his job. He clarified that our budget 

does balance and by law it has to. 

Vice Chair Nootz clarified a comment noted in the Enterprise where it showed that she said the City is 

operating in the red, or deficit, and she strongly clarified that the City not in a deficit. 

Chair Schwarz thanked the community members that reached out respectfully out the City Manager raise. 

He expressed appreciation to City staff that are clearing snow.  

Commissioner Lyons explained our snow removal plan in comparison to Bozeman explaining our locations 

are different, and that we really do have the right amount of equipment and staff for a typical year of snow, 

but for years that we have above average snow fall in our area it does appear like the City is not working to 

remove the snow. He really clarified that we are well prepared the amount of snow we almost always get 

every year.  

10. Adjournment 

9:22 PM Commissioner Lyons motioned to adjourn seconded by Commissioner Kahle. Unanimously 

approved 

 

Supplemental Material 



 

 

Calendar of Events 

 
Notice 

 

 Public Comment: The public can speak about an item on the agenda during discussion of that item by coming up 

to the table or podium, signing-in, and then waiting to be recognized by the Chairman. Individuals are reminded 

that public comments should be limited to items over which the City Commission has supervision, control, 

jurisdiction, or advisory power (MCA 2-3-202). 

 

 Meeting Recording: An audio and/or video recording of the meeting, or any portion thereof, may be purchased 

by contacting the City Administration. The City does not warrant the audio and/or video recording as to content, 

quality, or clarity. 

 

 Special Accommodation: If you need special accommodations to attend or participate in our meeting, please 

contact the Fire Department at least 24 hours in advance of the specific meeting you are planning on attending. 

 



Sent: Tuesday, February 18, 2025 11:02 AM 
To: City Commission <citycommission@livingstonmontana.org> 
Subject: City streets 
 
To whom it may concern, 
 
     The City of Livingston must review and re-establish the primary snow route as it does not prioritize 
residences on the northside of the city exposed to higher snowfall and wind drift, especially considering 
those whom live on a uphill grade. It is blatantly obvious that the city does have not utilize adequate 
snow removal equipment and/or staffing. Emergency response or evacuation is a serious concern and 
extreme liability. 
 
     Additionally, it is asinine for the city to impose misdemeanor charges to city residents who slip and 
crash when the taxpayer-funded streets/street conditions are unkempt and dangerous. Fire hydrants 
are being not kept clear, and streets are riddled with potholes and poor drainage. Private vehicles are 
suffering mechanical damage to suspension and other issues.  
 
Finally, we are opposed to the city manager receiving any raise before funds are properly allotted to 
meet the basic needs of the city.  
 
Scot Ward 
1215 Sweetgrass Lane 
Livingston, MT 59047 
 

 

To: City Commission <citycommission@livingstonmontana.org> 

Subject: Please support Energy Action Plan 

Dear Commissioners, 

Thank you for all your work so far to create the city's Energy Action Plan. I have reviewed the draft 

and am writing to voice my support and encourage your approval with Action Item 7A. 

I own a local energy auditing business to help people improve the energy efficiency of their homes, 

so I have direct experience with how relatively easy upgrades can pay off in the long term with cost 

and energy savings. I think the plan does a good job of laying out sensible investments that will 

improve city services while conserving our tax dollars and reducing our carbon emissions that 

contribute to global warming. 

As a former chair of the tree board, I am also very supportive of the plan's proposal to increase 

urban tree cover, including by engaging students and volunteers. There is robust science 

documenting how trees are the best and most affordable "air conditioners" for cities facing hotter 

summers. Trees are a common-sense climate change adaptation strategy, and also make our town 

more beautiful for residents, more attractive to tourists and more walkable, especially for the young 

and elderly. I've helped with the Livingston Loves Trees planting campaigns and am volunteering to 

help engage students with tree planting. Planting trees can be a very meaningful way for people to 

improve their neighborhoods and schools, learn about the natural world, meet other people and take 

pride in their community. Please keep trees in the energy action plan! 

mailto:citycommission@livingstonmontana.org
mailto:citycommission@livingstonmontana.org


I am also very supportive of transitioning the city's vehicle fleet to EVs. I've used a Chevy EV for 

several years in Livingston. People often ask me about it, and I think there's a misconception that 

EVs don't work in our cold climate or that they're not affordable. Although cold temps decrease the 

driving range somewhat, EVs actually have a lot of advantages in cold and snowy weather. They 

generally require much less maintenance than traditional vehicles, which helps offset any increased 

purchase cost and can result in long-term cost savings, combined with operational cost savings from 

electricity being cheaper than gas. 

With energy- and climate-related efforts facing headwinds at the national level, it's more important 

than ever that local communities move forward with actions that fit our goals. I believe this plan does 

that. If anything, I think we should be considering more proactive targets than 2050. I think we could 

get this done in the next 10 years if we wanted to, with the option to use renewable energy credits to 

plug any final gap for hitting carbon neutral. 

Thanks for your ongoing support on this. 

Marshall Swearingen 

409 1/2 S 13th St in Livingston 

 

To: City Commission <citycommission@livingstonmontana.org> 

Subject: energy action plan 

Hi, 

I am fully in support of the energy action plan and hope the city will move forward with it. And hope the 

council takes the position of the many Livingston residents also in support.  

--  

Tony Noble 
111 Buffalo Trail Rd, Livingston, MT 59047 

mailto:citycommission@livingstonmontana.org


Review of Subdivision 
Regulations

City Commission Meeting

February 18, 2025



PRESENTATION OVERVIEW

•Statutory Authority 

•Scope of Review

•Initial Recommendations



PURPOSE OF LOCAL SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS
MCA 76-3-501

(1) The governing body of every…city…shall adopt and provide for the enforcement and 
administration of subdivision regulations reasonably providing for:

(a) the orderly development of their jurisdiction;

(b) the coordination of roads within subdivided land with other roads (existing and planned);

(c) the dedication of land for roadways and public utility easements;

(d) the improvement of roads;

(e) the provision of adequate open spaces for travel, light, air, and recreation;



CRITERIA FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT REVIEW
MCA 76-3-608

(3) A subdivision proposal must undergo review for the following primary criteria:
(a) except when the governing body has established an exemption…as provided…76-3-

609(2) or (4), or 76-3-616 (N/A), the specific, documentable, and clearly defined impact 
on:
• agriculture

• agricultural water user facilities

• local services, 

• the natural environment, 

• wildlife, 

• wildlife habitat, and 

• public health and safety, excluding any consideration of…resulting loss of agricultural 
soils;



PRESENTATION OVERVIEW

•Statutory Authority 

•Scope of Review

•Initial Recommendations



SCOPE OF REVIEW OF SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

Three Types of Changes: 

• Technical and Conforming

• Growth Policy Recommendations

• Community Experience



PRESENTATION OVERVIEW

•Statutory Authority 

•Scope of Review

•Initial Recommendations



COMMUNITY EXPERIENCE RECOMMENDED CHANGES

•Require Boulevard tree plantings – at least 1 tree planting for each lot 
frontage; plan must be approved by City Arborist (Sec 28.7.9.3.6)

•Require Sidewalks in new subdivisions – will be included in Tbl 1 Typical 
Section

•Viewshed/ Ridgeline protection – Scenic Resource Preservation added to 
Sec 28.7.3

•Add Detailed Factors to evaluate Subdivision impacts – Sec 28.4.7.2.4 
includes additional considerations for impact evaluation



COMMUNITY EXPERIENCE RECOMMENDATIONS TO 
BE ADDRESSED OUTSIDE CH. 28 MAIN DOCUMENT

•Transportation Impacts of Greenfield Development – TIS will be required 
for 200+ trips; will be included in Subdivision Application Form (Ch. 28 
Appendix)

•Update/ Modernize street sections in Table 1- Tbl 1 will be moved to 
Appendix and a Typical Cross-Section will be added based on Public Works 
Design Standards (see example at right)

•Require Watercourse/ Wetland setbacks – Riparian Setbacks will be 
addressed in Zoning Code Update





QUESTIONS?


	2-18-25 Minutes
	2-18-25 Min Att
	250218 - CC Sub Regs_Step 3_CmntyExp
	Review of Subdivision Regulations
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Questions?


